ANNUAL REPORT, 1931.

HE year 1931 was a period of continnons growth for the Institute. The
rescarch  programme of its departments has been oarvied out with.
put ohstruotion, and important collections and seientific datae obtwined

which augur well for the future of the institution. The Institute has strength-
ciied ita relations with numerons scientific institutions, many of which notively
co-operate with the Institute in ita various fields of research,

We are glad to report that a number of distinguished savants bhave
joined the Institute. Dr. E. D. Morrill, Director-in-Chiel of the New York
Botanical Garden; Sir (0. V, Raman; Professor 8. 1. Motalnikofl, of the Pasteur
Institule, Parls; and Professor Baron Michel de Taube, Membor of the Insti-
tute of Internstional Law, have joined the Honorary Advisors' Board of the
Roerich Museum | Division of Seience [ . Compte do Mesnil do Bujsson,
Director of the Archmological excavation at Qatna, Syrin, and Leeturer at the
Ecole du Loovres, amd Professor Guiseppe Tueci, Member of the Royal Italian
Academy, have become Corresponding Members of the Institute,

It is a pleasant duty to oxpress here the sincere gratitude of the Insti-
tute's Stafl to our Founders, Madame mnd Professor de Roerich, and to the
Board of Trustees of the Roerich Museum, for their constant assistance amd
furthering of the Instituto’s plans,

DEPARTMENT oF ARCILEOLOGY, RELATED SOIENCES AND ARTS.
During the past yvear, the department was engaged in the following activ-
il - —
1. Linguistic, Ethnographical, and Archmological exploration in Lahul /
N.-W. Himilayae ', the oost of which was donated by Professor de Roerich.

2. Work on the large Tibetan-English Dictionary to be published by the
Imstitute.

#. The preparations of the Orst volumes of the seres *TIBETICA®. In
June, 1931, the Institute's Stafl was joined by Lama Lobzang Mingyur Dorje,
a noted Tibetan scholar, and asuthor of seversl pobliontions on  Tibotan

ETRMINAr.

The Expedition left the headguarters of the Institute st Naggar, on the
10th of July, aml alter a mapid journey ascross the Rothang FPass, established
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ita hendquarters at Kyelang, Lahul, from which place numerons excorsions
were undertaken to various ploces of interest.

l. (a) Limgwistic Swreey:—The work in this fleld was limited to the Tib.
etan dialect of Lahuol, aml was not concerned with the other Himalayan dialects
found in the mountain valleys of the Bhaga, Chandra and Chandrabhaga
rivers. The material collocted containg a grammar of the Lahul dislect, a
vocabulary, texis of songs and descriptions of ceremonies. It was observed
that the Lahul dialect has two sub-dialects: that of Kolong in the upper
Bliagn Valley, aml that of Koksar in the upper Chamdra Valley. Both the
sub.dialects were found to possess a distinct system of tonemes—a fuct pre-
vioualy loft unrecorded.

L

{6) Erhnographioal colfection —Evory effort was mude to seoure a reprosent-
ative collection of objects illustrating the everyday life of the Lahul hillmen.
This summer's work resulted in an  Interesting collection of wood-sarved
Tibetan farniture, some of whose ormamental motifs ouriously remind one ol
Nordie wood-carvings,

() :ll'rj.m:n'npmﬂ Surrey :—Work has began on the -.mhn.-:rlumul survey ol
the region. For many years numerous burisl grounds in Lahul have boen
known to cxist, popularly designated under the local name of dji-wei rom-
K'nfi | volloquinl for phyi-ba'i ro-khati /| - The late Dr, A, H, Francke in his
* History of Western Tibet' / London, 1907 [ and the Kongr District Gazet-

r /| (Kuln, Lahul, Spiti). Lahore, 1917 / mention the existence of ancient
burial grounds, which acconding to thom were left behind by some invaders
coming from the North. No attempt was made to survey or investigate these
hurinl grounds, or to claasify them nccording to their respective lypes. In
view of the importance of sovient burinl growmnds for the early history of
Tibet, the Director conducted a rapid survey of the sites. This survey in the
Bhoaga and Chandr river valloys convineed him of the existence of at least
three kinds of burials. It is still impossible to ascertain the dates of these
burial grounds, for this would necessitate propoer excaviations, amd not the mer
oxumination of graves opened by inhabitants. The known burial groumds can
be classified aecording to three delinite types of burial :

(n} Gimves ropresenting o hole, about 2.3 feet deep, covered by a large
stone slab. Avemge length of stone slab about 5 feet, breadth about 3 feet,
The orientation of the graves is very uncertain, most of the graves so far dis.
oovered seem to bo orientated from North to South. There is nothing on the
surfnce to tell of their existence, and most of the known graves have been dis-
covered during field works, excavations of house foundations, and road building.
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Graves of this type were discovered in the vininity of Kyelang villuge. Their
inventory is extromely poor. Most of the iron implements found in the graves
have rottod away beyond recognition. The human remains turned to dust,
and a few insignificant bone fragmonts is all that iz usually found.

A second similar burinl ground is found at the eonfluenoe of the rivers
Chandra snd Bhaga. Here the geaves are surmounted by small tumuli of an
average height of 1.2 feet | length 7 feet, breadth 4 feet /. Popular tradition
says that those graves were left behind by invaders from Guge.

(4) The second type of burinl is seldom found, and probably represents
the most ancient type of bural, so far discoversd in Lahul. As fur as 1
know only one grave of this kind was discovered near Kyelang by the road
side from Kvelang to Gumrang village | about two miles from Kyelang
It ropresents o circular hole inlaid with large flat stones. The shape of the
grave bears o striking resomblance to an um.  The grave was excavated by
some local inhabitants, and secording to them nothing was found in it, oxoopt
somp decayed fragments of human bones, and some small fragments of pottery.
The utter state of decay of human remaing, and the almost total absence of
inventory, may indicate the fact that we find ourselves in tho prosonee of o
burial in which the human body was out to pieces and the flesh separated
from the bones—a common type of aocient Tibetan burial of the pre-buddhist
poriod. This last type of burial should be connectod with the Ladak graves
discovered by the Momvian Missionaries at Tew-ser-po in the vicinity of Leh.
Further researches will no doubt discover other graves of similar type naul
will help to solve the problem. The Leh graves belonged to a long-headed
race, olosely akin to the nomml mees of Tibet.

(c) The third type of burial is represented by groups of large tumuli, and
is saiil to have been left behind by a body of Mongol-Tibetan troops who
raided the Bhaga and Chandra walleys, during their attack on Ladak in the
reign of king bDe-lega rnam-rgyal | about 1640-1680 |, According to popular
traalition | no written account exists of the raid to Lahul, as far a8 T know /' a
detachment of Mongol-Tibetan troops invaded Lahul neross the Baralacha Pass,
and remained in the conntry for seveml years, or, as says the oral tradition,
‘sugh time as was needed for an apricot seed planted by the invaders to
grow into a young tree’. According to the same oral tradition the Mongol-
Tibetan troops built a fortified camp at the confluence of the Bhaga and
Chandra rivers on a high river terrace facing the anclent Buddhist monastery
of Ghandhola. The place i still called Kar-ga ' mKhar-ka [ and is character-
ized by the remains of an ancient fort. Whether this fort belongs to this
period | X¥1Ith century /, or was built by Lahulis remains to be seen. The
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secomnd site connected with the name of the M‘Emgah is situated two miles from
Kokear, not far from the Rothang Pass. According to the oral tradition, the
Mongols were foroed to abandon their camp nt Koksar because of some disssss
during which time some 1000 men died from it. The larger tumuli found in
the vieinity of Koksar are said to contain ench from & to 10 bodies of dead
warriors. According to the same oral tradition the loeal inhabitants had to
abandon their villages during this Mongol-Tibetan rid, and fled to remote
places high up the surrounding mountain, socking shelter in caves and well-
protected places. The present inhabitants of Lahul know of ssveral suoh pluces
up the Bhaga river Valley, which still bear traces of o prolonged cecupation.
L]

Iuteresting materinl was gathered on the history of the buddhist monastor-
ies in the Bhaga Valley. The materinl collected consists mostly of monastery
rocords, and biographies or rnam-thar of the founders of the monastories. This
material throws new light on the introduction of Boddhism into Laliul and the
ndjacent regions of Western Tibet. The Library of the Himilayan Research
Institute is now in possession of a good colleotion of Tibetan x¥lographs dealing
with the * Lives® of the early teachers of the ‘Brug-pa bKa "-rgyud sect.

2. A good Tibotan-English dictionary, embodying the results of modern
rescarches in the fields of Tibetan linguistics and philology, has long been a
great desiderats. Such a dictionary bas now beon undertaken by the Institute,
and Lama Lobsang Mingyur Dorje and the Director have been placed in charge
of this important task. The new dictionary will include besides the printed
material found in the aleeady existing Tibetan-English dictionaries, the rich
material found in the Sanskrit-Tibetan and Tibetan Sanskrit dictionaries printed
in Tibet, the Mongol-Tibetan dictionaries printed in Momgolin, and Transbai-
kalin. and the several important polyglot dictionaries published in China.,
Besides the above printed mntorinl, the compilers will ndd a vast material
collected by them in the course of their ressarches, The Dictionary will include
the Sanskrit equivalents of philosophical terms: loan-words, which will be
truced to their origing wherever possible, and an extensive material from the
colloguinl language and the various living dialects of Tibst. Work on the
dictionary was bogun in June, 1931, and it is hoped to bring it to completion
towards 1934,

3. The first volume of tho series * TIBETICA, ' dedioated to the study of
Tibetan antiquity and related subjects, will contain the Director's Sty of
the Tibetan Dialect of Labul. This study will be sccompanied by a collection
of phonetically transoribed Lahuli texts and a vocabulary / Lahuli-English
The volume will be issued in the vourse of 1932. Two more volumes are in

preparation (—
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(e} Life of Atigs, by the mKhan-po méhims thams.éad mkbyen-pa.

(b} The History of Buddhism ! &hos-'byun | by Padma dkar-po. This
important text will be edited in Tibotan, and followed by a translation, sceom-
pained by a copious commentary.

We express our sincere thanks to Professor de Roerich who laid the
foumdation of the series, by donating a sum of money to start a fund,

The following publications were prepared and issued in connection with
the depariment :—

Col. A. K. Mahon, 1NS.0.: Recent Archmologienl Discoverios in India,
This article appears in this isue of the Journal,

i, de Roerich: Trails to Inmost Asin, Yole University Press, 1931.
A French and German edition of the same work are in proparation.
i, de Boerich: Notes on the Ethnography of Tibet.

(1, de Roerich: Studies in the Kalacakra,

The Institute was represented at several important scientific Congresses held
during the year, Madame de Vaux-Phalipan ropresentod the Tostitute at the
XVth Internationsl Congress of Anthropology, held in Paris in September,
and read two papers by the Diecctor entitled: Problémes ethnographiques du
Tibet: les tribus Goloks, and * Origines ethniques ot composition des populn-
tiong  nommdes du centre de I'Asie”. At the same Congress the well-known
scholar Dr. Bashmakov resd o paper on the moont discovery of megalithic
monuments in Tibet by the Hoerich Central Asiatic Expedition. At the
AVIIIth Congris International des Orientalistes, Dr. J. Rahder, Professor st
the University of Leiden, read a paper entitled : The Activities of the
Himilayan Research Institute of the Roerich Museum.

DEPARTMEST DF NATUBAL SCIENCES AND APPLIED HEsSganon,

The year's work of the Biologieal and Botanieal Section of this Depart-
ment, is deseribed in the following report by Dir. Walter N. Koolz:—

*The biologist's work during the year 1931 was chiefly oarried on through
throe expeditions: one through the Kangra Valley into the Great Indian
Flaing, one to Western Tibet, and one to the domaing of the Rija of Rimpur

Beshahr. In addition several of the side valleys of the Beas Valley were
ox plorad.

From January 18th to March 15th was spent in the first expedition, Ex-
tensive collections of birds and plaots, and a few mammals were made in the
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Kangra Valley at Negrots, on the Plains st the Gurdaspur marshes, aroond
Lahore, and at Sirsa on the border of Rajputana. The plants of the Plains
are of a totally differsnt o from that of the northern mountains, among
them are found many of the drugs that the grest Indisn medicine men employ,
and their stody is of no less interest than the alpine plants of the Tibetan
Pharmacopoein. Big game i not abundant in this region, but fine represent-
atives were obtained of the Indian Red Deer and the Black Buek, the game
par excellence. The birds during the winter months are of the greatest inter-
est. Mixed wilth the regular population ame visitors from Persin, Afghanistin,
Siberia, Tibet and all the lofty mountain ranges between, Specimens that
one may find singly or in scattored pairs in their breeding haunts are here
assembled in flocks, Huge blue ecrnes [rom FEastorn Siberin may literally
fill a five nore ficld, the magnificent Imperial Sand Groose from Persia visits
ita watoring plaons in thonsands, the Amipit.ﬂnm, among the rarest of birds
in collections are assembled in grest varicty [ of the 1,000 specimens of hirds
secured over 10 per cent. were of this group / , duck, geess, and snipe of many
apecies, and other enormons flocks tarry here till spring calls them to their
nesting grounds in Siberin and Tibet. Among the birds of the Plaine the
Ihis, the Spoonbill, Egrets, Bitterns, Storks, Cranes, Parrots, Barbots, Bustards,
und Portridges constitute an interesting part of the collection. The Expedi-
tion to Western Tibet left headquarters on June 7th and roturned on Ootober
8, having covered 1,000 miles chisfly in the provinees of Rupshu, Ladak and
Zangskar. Over 1,000 plant numbers constituting some 10,060 specimens, more
than 1040 bird-skins and 25 big game heads were collected. The big game
includod all the large mommals of the region: Ovis ammon, shapu, nabe,
ibex, Tibetan gazelle, Kyangs, etc. The plant growth, ss all Tibetan explor-
ers have deseribed it, is phenomenal, Up to 20,000 feet amd more the vegein-
tion nscends. I is » singular fact that of the flora of the snow line on the
outside of the Great Himilayan BRange practically none ocours on the great
plateans, not oven the little Saxifragn fagellaris that extends all over the
boreal world, even to the land bolow the North Pole. Unlike most plants of
high altitude, the plants are often not dwarfed and insignificant. At 15,000
to 18000 foot clevation there are many showy, well-grown, and often very
fragrant representatives ol the gences Potentilla, Ranunculus, Saxifraga,
Pedicularis, Primuls, Rosa, Clematis, Aster, Gontisna to mention only the
most striking. Tho bird collection containe many things of scientific interest,
among them several new resonls for the avifauna of the area and a new hird
for the Indian Empire, the Giant Lark, Molanocoryphs maxima, taken with
its ogen ot Hanle. A furthor report of the itinerary of the Expedition appoars
as the “ Diary of the 1931 Expedition to Western Tibet ™ in this isspe of the
dournal, amd detailed reports on the scientific results will appear when the
various collections have been studied,

154



ANNUAL REPORT, 1931

From November 4th to December 7th was spent in the Sutlej Valley in
Rampur Beshahr. A collection of 165 plant numbers, about 2,000 specimens,
i big game ekins, and over 600 bird-sking was brought back. Among the birds
were tepresentatives of the grouse and pheasants of the area amd a oumber
of apeeies of other groups that range chicfly to the East and meet the limit
of their range in the Sutlej Valley. Many species of plants wors found in
bloom, among them a good sories of the bamboos and other grasses and several
vory attrietive and fragrant flowered shrubs.  Several interesting horticultural
products were also obtained, among them o squash of vory fine flavor that
grows to more than 40 Ibs, and seems to be oonfined to n very small cold
valley, Seeds of these were gathered for distribution.

During the year by request of the various institutions the following mataerial
has been distributed abrosd :—

Roerich Museum—an omithological collection and 7 hig game,

New York Botanical Gardens—a eollection of TUO plant numbers repro-
senting 3,000 specimens, and 35 packets of seods.

United States Department of Agrienlturs—d45 packets of soads.

Muscum of Comparative Zoology, Harvard University—an ornithologieal
eolleotion,

Natural History Departmont, British Museum—one bird #kin,

Jarding des Plantes, Paris—356 packets of seeds.’

Throughout the year, the New York Botanieal Garden continued to co-
operate with the Himilayan Research Institute in the study and classification
of its botanical collsctions. The experiments with seeds sent to New York
by the Himilayan Research Institute have given some very good resulie, and
Dr. E. ). Merrill, Director-in-Chiel of the New York Botanical Garden in his
letter of June 9th, 1931, writes as follows :—

“hur Head Gardener reporis that he is getting excellent resulis from the
seods sent by vou; a great many of them bave germinated, and we shall
deliberately place the young plants out of doors this summer, with view to
testing whether or not the perenninl species will stand our winter climatic
conditions, Noodless to state, we shall be vory glad indeed to reecive forthor
aeeds from medium and higher altitudes in the Himalayan region and in Tibet.
I mm quite confident that many of the native species there will thrive under
our climatic conditions.'

On March 16th, 1931, the botanical collection sent by the * Urusvati’
HimAlayan Hesearch Institute of the Roerich Museum was handed over to the
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Jarlin des Plantes of Paris. The Delegation of thoe Fronch Association of
Friends of Roerich Museum, headed by the Marquis d'Andigné, Membor and
former President of the Municipal Council of Paris, presented the collection to
M. Lows Mangin, Member of the French Academy of Sciences, and Dirsotor of
the National Museum of Natural History. Others speakers on this oceasion
were Madama de Vaux-Phalipau, President of the European Center of the
Roerich Museum, and Dr. Georges Chklaver, Secretary-General of the Kuropoan
Center of the Roerich Museum, who pointed out the importance of the work
accomplished by the Himilayan Research Institute. M. Louis Mangin express.
ed the gratitude of French science for the ' precious contribution made to their
vollection by the Himilayan Research Instituts’,

Bro.oneMicar LABORATORY.

One of the aims of the Himilayan Research Institute is to conduct scienti-
lic research in the fiold of native pharmacopawia. It i oor firm belief that the
ancient medicinal usages of Tibet, China and India, representing venturies of
unbroken tradition, have something to tesch us and in some respects can fur-
nish new deta which will throw fresh light on pharmacological problems.
This field is almost virgin, and the importance of this kind of research is
reaogmized by the foremost specialists. The difficnlties of this field of research
are manifold. One has to gain the confidence of native medicine men,
patiently work over thousands of pages of written records often compiled in an
extremely diffioult technicw] Innguage, make onesell familine with the native
point of view, and above all to preserve to the last an open-minded attitude,
for before one obtains precise data, one has to investigate a rich folk-lore
material in which popular knowledge is frequently combined with phantastic
legends of primitive religions orceds that erept into the technical text-hooks of
native medicine, In many cases this medical knowledge is eonsidered a sort of
tabu, and tho teacher will impart it to his pupil only on his deathbed.
Frequently medical training is preceded by a rigorous observance of obseurs
roligious practices which in their turn require investigation. In existing medical
colloges the students hove to work through an intricate system of learning, the
ontward difficulties of which often screon its real value. The text-books them-
#elves can only be understood with the help of an experienced native scholar,
well versed in all the techniealitien of his subject. Each of these text-books
belong to a partioular system of medicnl knowledge and one has to make one.
sell familine with the fundamental tenets of the system before one can sucosss.
fully work through the text. These tensts are often given out orally or in the
form of siitras, that is short statements compiled in an extremely briof style
which are imcomprehensible without o commentary.,

In order to successfully accomplish this task and to furnish a complete
survey of the subjeot, the Himilayan Research Institute has establishod the
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following programme of research work, which is now being carried out at the
Inatitute's Headquarters at Noggar. The work can be olassified under two
divigions :—

(1) Gathering of the material, and

(2) The study of thisn material in the lnborstories of the Institute,

For the first purpose, the Institute has established a herbarium of medicinal
plants in local use; a colleotion of local materia medica with data furnished
by native medicine men: a collection of native text-books on medicine and
phamuacopmis. Native medicine men are invited to participate in research
work and assist in the classifiestion and interpretation of the available material,
It is hardly possible to scoure & good medicine man outside hiz native country
and it & quite impossible to induce such & man to undertake a joumney
abroad ; hence the necessity of establishing n rescarch centre in the region
itsell and equipping it with modem means of scientific research. The Himi-
layas and the high table-land of Tibet have for centuries attractod the medicine
men of Chine and India. A very large section of Chinese Materin Medios s
vonstituted with herbs that grow in the Tibetan highlands, The same is troe
of Indian Pharmacopein. The Himdlayan Research Institute is well looated
to study and record these ancient traditions. The pressure of modern civiliza-
tion causes the keepers of ancient traditions to retreat into the fastneases of
their mountains, with the result that local teaditions are mapidly vanishing. What
can be done to-dsy, will be impossible in a few years. This one has con-
stantly to bear in mind, In the near future the Institute will begin the
publication of a series of monogmphs, containing the results of the Institute's
resenrch work, translstions of Tibetan Medical works and commentaries thereon.

The second purpose is the defailed study of this materinl in the light of
modern research, This will be done in the laboratories of the Himidlayvan
Research Institute, which it is hoped will be completed about the spring of
1932. These laboratories consist of the following divisions :—

{a) Genernl Bio-chemical Laboratory,
() Organic and Pharmacological Laboratories,
(¢) Physical Laborstary,

A special section of the department is devoted to Cancer Research for we
are in possession of interesting data which justify researches in the cancer
field in this part of the world, in which cancer is relatively seldom found. The
study of the local diet may bring important revelations.

The above laboratories will give ample opportunities to the members of
the stafl to test these ancient medical veages by modern scientific means wod
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will perhaps bring new solutions to some of the urgent problems of the
Soience of Life,

During the 1931 Expedition to Lahul /| North-Western HimAlayas /|, the
Director and Lama Lobzang Mingyvur Dorie have collected o number of valuahbls
Tibetan texte on native therapy and pharmacology, incloding the rGyud b, the
Baidiirys whon-po, biographies of famous Tibetan doctors, commontaries on
the rGyud-bii, amd severnl interesting gter-ma or * hidden * books on medicine, Al
these works are at present deposited in the Research Library of the Institute.

A collection of medicinal herbs and drugs | containing 195 numbers | was
also made with the help of native Tibotan lama.doctors.

Dr, C. Lozina, Medical Adviser to the Inatitute, who was in chargs of
this work, had to discontinue his work at the Headquarters due to family rea-
sons. He left the Headguartors in March, 1631,

During the past period this department of the Institute was roprosented
ot the International Congress of Pharmacology, held in Parls during the
summer of 1931, Dr. N. A, Dobrovolsky-Zavadsky has scqusinted the mem-
bers of the International Radiclogionl Congress in Paris with the activities of
the Himilnyan Research Institute,

The Institute is very geatified to report that its Bio-chemioal department
has received liberal support during the past vear. $ 9,200 was donated hy a
[riend of the Institute towards the erection of the Bio-chemieal Laboratory at
the Headquarters, and another sum of £ 23500 was presented by Mm, Lionel
B. Sutro for the Institute Fund for Cancer Besearch.

The building of the Bio-chemical Laboratory is well under way, and it is
hoped to complete the construction before the monsson period.  The construc-
tion of the lnboratory is supervised by Mr. V. A, Shibayev, SBocretary of the
Institute.  An unfortunnte delay of two months was oxperienced owing to diffi-
culties in obtaining the nooded supply of timber. This hns beon now secured
sl the construction can now provesd without further delays.

Flans are being made to erect a hydro-electric plant on o plot of land,
the sale of which wus sanctioned by the Government. Professor do Roerich has
vory kindly given the use of this plot of land to the Institute for the purpose
of ereeting the Institute’s hydro-clectrio plant,

Madame and Professor de Roerich have also donated sn additional plot of
land for extension of the Institute’s building in connection with the Bio-chemi.
cal Laboratory constructions,
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During the past year Colonel A, E. Mahon, DS.0, has conducted, ns the
offinial representative of the Institute, varions negotistions with Governmental
authoritics, and we take this opportunity to express to him our sincere appre-
cintion.

REsEARCH LinRARY.

During the past year the Library of the Institute was conslderably
inorensod through grants of books and book-exchanges. Grants of books were
received from the following and are here gratefully acknowledged by the Insti-
tute i —

Carnegie Institution, Washington, D.C.; tho Hthnographical Society of
Paris; Professor de Roerich; Dr. Rabindmuosth Tagore; Commandant O, J.
Canvet: Colonel A, E. Mahon, 1D.8.0.; Professor Perrot; . Bernard Read, of
the Peiping Medical College; Dr. Dobrovolsky-Zavidsky ; Me, T. E. MoCullagh,
and Georges de Roerich.,

The fist isszue of the Journal of * Urnsvati® HimAlavan Hessarch Institute,
edited by the Director, was published in July, 1881, by the Roerich Museum
Press, New York, The first issue comprised articles by Dr. R V. 1. Magoffin,
President of the Archmological Institute of Ameriea; Count du Mesnil du
Buisson, Director of Excavations ot Qutna, Syrin; V. A, Pertzoff, M.A., of
Harvard University ; Dr. €. C. Logina; Dr. E. D. Merrill, Direotor-in-Chief of
the New York Botanical Garden; Mr. V. A. Shibayev, and the Director. This
first issne waa dediested to Professor Charles R. Lanman, the eminent Indo-

logisd,

During the past year the Institute established an exchange of publications
with the following Institutions (—

Camnegie Institution, Washington, 1.0,

Emithsoninn Institution.

LS. Muoseum, Washington, 1.C.

U5, Dept. of Agriculture: Bureau of Plant Incdustry.
U.5. Dopt. of Agriculture: Bureau of Entomology.

U.S. Dept. of Interior: National Park Service.

Union of American Biologienl Soeieties (University of Pennsylvania),
Associstion of American Medical Colleges.

American Institute of Chemista, Ine.

American Chemienl Socicty (Ohio State University).
American Couneil of Learned Societies, Washington, D.C.
American Geographical Society.

Ameorican Library Assoointion.

American Sechool of Prehistoric Research (Yalo University).
Oriental Institute (Chicago Univomsity).
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American Oriental Society Journal.

Behool of American Hescarch, Santa, Fe, New Mexioo,

Mayo Foundation for Medical Edueation and Ressarch (University Minne-
moita ).

Elisha Mitchell Scientifie Society {University of North Carolina),

Habnemann Medical College and Hospital (University of Chicago).

Now York Academy of Medinine.

Nationnl Medical Associstion, Newark, N.JI,

Minnesota Stats Pharmaceutical Associntion,

Mizssouri State Medioal Amsocistion.

Colordo State Medical Society.

Academy of Medicine, Cloveland.

Rhode Island Medical Journal.

Tropieal Plant Research Foundation, Washington, D.C.

Gorgas Memorial Institute, Ancon, Canal Zone.

Panama Canal Zone Exporiment Gardens,

Pacific Institute of Tropical Medicine (Univorsity of California).

Chicago Academy of Sciences.

Academy of Natural Sciences, Philadelphia,

Californin Aendomy of Selences.

Kansas Academy of Sciences.

Colorado Seientific Society.

Tennessee Academy of Scionces.

Conneotiout Geologieal aml Natuml History Society.

Nature Aseovintion, Washington, D.C.

Oklahoma Agricultural and Medical College.

Agrioultural Experiment Station (University of Penn. Htate).

Agricultural Exporiment Station (New Jersey State).

Agricultural Experiment Station (University of North Dakota).

Agrivaltural History Society, Washington, D.C.

American Museum of Natural History, New York.

Field Museum of Natural History, Chicago,

Metropolitan Museum, New York.

Colorado Museum of Natural History, Denver.

Natoral History Museum, San iego,

Loe Angeles Museum of Natural History, Ssiences and Arts,

Exchange of publications hna alio been started with the following Univer-
sitiss—{Depis. of Botany, Zoology, Rio-chemistry, Medicine, Pharmacology, or
Archeology) :—

Columbin University, New York.

Harvard University, Cambridge, Mass.
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Yale University, New Haven, Conn.

Cornoll University, [thaon, N.Y.

Rutgers University, New Brunswick, N.J.
Brown University, Providence, R.L
Pittsburgh University, Po.

Pennsylvania University, Phila., Pa.
Medical College of Virginia, Roanoke, V.
Duke University, Durham, N.C.

University of North Carclina, Chapel Hill, N.C.
Purdue Univemity, Lafayette, Indiana.
Saint Louis University, St. Louis, Mo,
University of Missouri, Columbia, Mo,
University of lllinois, Chicago, 11L

Stanford University, SBtanford, Cal,
University of California, Berkeley, Cal,
hio State Univemsity, Columbos, Ohio.
Marquette University, Milwaukee, Wise,
Indians University, Bloomington, Ind.
State Univ , of lowa, lowa City.

University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Mich.
University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, Minn.
University of OUregon, Eugene, Oregon.
University of Oklahoma, Norman, Okla.
University of Nebraska, Lincoln, Neb.
University of Nevada, Reno, Nevada.
Vanderbilt University, Nashville, Tennesses,
Univemsity of Texas, Aunstin, T'axns,
University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, N. Mexico.
University of Washington, Seattle Wash,

An exchange of publications wis established with the [ollowing learned
institutions in France :—

Institut Intornational d'Anthropologie.

Sociétd d'Ethnographie de Paris,

sooiété de Géographie Commerciale.

{Offiee Naotional dea Plantes Médisinales.

Muséum d'Histoire Naturelle.

The Institute has also established an exchange of publications with the
following soientifie institutions in India:—

Government of India, Geological Survey.
Royal Asiatic Society of Bombay.
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Journal of tha Andhra Historical Hesearch Society.
Proceedings of the Bose Institute, Caloutta.
Yicvabharati.

Kashmir State Forest Department.

MusEom.

During the past period the Natural History Collections of the Institute
have boon considerably increased. A second room will be added to house the
woologieal collections. An Ethnographical eollootion haz been started, and we
gratefully acknowledge the gift of several objects of local ethnography donated
by Professor do Roorich.

The nuclens of a museum has been started at the New York premises of
the Himilavan HResearch Institute. At present two galleries are being or-
ganired : Une to house the collection of Tibetan art bronght back by the
Rowrich Central Asiatic Expedition, and another to house the botanical wmd
zoological collection, gathered by Dr. Walter N, Koelz, hiologist of the Institute.

During the year the Museum of the Institule in New York has received
several important donations, which are here gratefully acknowledged - —

A Collection of butterfliee from Sikkim, numboring 08 spocimens donsted
by Mr. Svetoslav N. HRoerich.

A mineralogical collpetion donsted by Me. Svetoslae N, Roerich.,

A mineralogical collection donated by Mr, John Viemis.

A mineralogioal collection donated by the Paterson Muoseum, N.J.

One Tibetan danving mask donated by Miss Esther J. Liohtmann.

Activimies 8 New Yorx.

The notivitios in New York during the past period have been supervised
by Mr., Louis L. Horch, President of the Roerich Musoum, and Mm. 5. G,
Lichtmann. The office has been in charge of Miss Kathryn Linden. On
November 10th, Mim Esther J. Lichtmann arrived in Now York after o
prolonged sojourn at the Himilayan Headguarters of the lustitute, and took
over the supervision of the activities of the lostitute in New York. During
hor atay in Indin, Miss Lichtmann took an active part in the setivitiea of the
Institule, both at Naggar, Kulu, and Lahul, and her return o Now York will
oo doubt help to further the Institute’s future plans of research. It is a
pleasant duty to oxpress our sincerest thanks to Mrs. 8. G, Lichtmann for hor

devoted care during the past peried.

During the past pedod the following lecturcs were given under the
auspices of the Himilayan Research Institute in New York: April 23rd,
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Dr. E. D, Merrill spoke on ° Twenty-two years in the Philippines’, dealing
with the historical and ethnographical aspecta, as well as the vegetation of
these islnnds. On November 28ed, De. Clyde Fisher, Corator of the Ameriean
Museum of Natural History, gnve an address entitled * With John Burroughs
in his Favaorite Haunts'. This Inst lectnre was held under the joint auspices
of the Himdlayan Research Institule amid the Master Institute of Roerich
Museum, Mra. Louis L. Horch, President of the Roerich Socioty, who leotursd
on Kuln YValley and the work of the Himidlayan Research Iostitute during the
past session, gave further addresses this year before the Washington Heights
Woman's (lub on March 24th, and the Book Club of Riverside Chorch, New
York, on May 15th.

In the Automn of 1031, the following eampaigns were inanguratad for the
purpoes of promotion and scoclemstion of the wide programme of the Himi-
lnyan Research Institute :—

1. Fund for the Bio-chemical and Cancer Besearch Laboratories.
2, "Urusvati® Himilayan Research Institute Fuod.

Professor Michalas de Boerich has gracionsly donated for these two cam.
paigne, his painting ° Saiot Pantaleimon, the Healer', post-cand reproductions
from his paintings * Saint Pantaleimon, the Healer ', and * Agni Yoga®, as well
na hig new book *The Healm of Light®. The promocds from the sale of those
will be given to the above funds.

A spocinl loaflet for the Bio.chemical Laboratory Campaign Committee
was written by Mr. J, G, Phelps-Stokes, Chairman of the Committes.

The rpid growth of the Institute necessitates further cfforts in order to
omrry out the whole programme of its manifold sotivities. Alter two suocoss-
ful years of field work, the Institute confidently enters the thind year of its
research work. In olosing  this Annnsl Report, lot me qoote from our Presi-

dent-Founder's address for the Anniversary of * Urusvati’ Himilayan Eesearch
Institute :

‘Thug wo enter the noxt yvear in full realization that our work is undefer.
rably needed, that the field of activity Las been selected rightly and that the
aympathy of friends and widest cultural circles promises a mighty expansion
of the constructions for geneenl usefulness, There, whore is soch gencral e
fulness, we shall not withdeaw and we shall uphold that enthosiasm which
turng all obstacles into radiant possibilities.

The Ihrecior.
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